047

FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA D

JAN 30 1991

By Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v

CASE NUMBER 76,407

HARVEY L. WEISS,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

JOHN A. WEISS
Attorney Number 0185229
P. O. Box 1167
Tallahassee, FL 32302
(904) 681-9010
COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

INTRODUCTION

Appellant, HARVEY L. WEISS, will be referred to as Respondent throughout this Brief. Appellee, THE FLORIDA BAR, will be referred to as such or as the Bar.

References to the Report of Referee will be by the symbol RR followed by the appropriate page number.

References to the transcript of the October 26, 1990 hearing before the referee will be by the symbol TR followed by the appropriate page number. The two exhibits attached to the Bar's Complaint, the Decision and Recommendation of the Disciplinary Review Board and the order of the New Jersey Supreme Court filed May 8, 1990 shall be referred to as CEX A and CEX B respectively.

The Exhibit submitted into evidence at final hearing, the affidavit of Robert J. Prihoda, will be referred to as FHEX A.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent, a New Jersey resident and practitioner, was temporarily suspended in Florida by order dated July 27, 1990 pursuant to a petition for temporary suspension filed by The Florida Bar. The Florida Bar v Harvey L. Weiss; Case Number 76,359.

Subsequent to the order of temporary suspension, The Florida Bar filed in this Court on July 30, 1990 its formal complaint and its request for admissions (which exactly tracked the complaint) charging Respondent with misconduct. The sole predicate for the Bar's charges was the May 8, 1990 order of the New Jersey Supreme Court suspending Respondent for six months for various violations of the New Jersey trust accounting rules. Respondent filed an answer to the request for admissions admitting all allegations by the Bar.

Pursuant to notice, final hearing was held on October 26, 1990 before a referee in Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. Respondent had previously advised the referee and Respondent by letter dated September 14, 1990 that he would not appear at the final hearing.

At final hearing, The Florida Bar presented no witnesses and relied exclusively upon the two documents attached to the Bar's complaint and an affidavit dated August 23, 1985 by a New Jersey staff auditor, Robert J. Prihoda.

The referee issued his report recommending disbarment on November 29, 1990. Respondent retained counsel and timely filed a petition for review in this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent is a lawyer that practices in Maplewood, New Jersey. He was admitted to the Bar of that state in 1963 and, in the same year, was admitted to The Florida Bar. CEX A and RR5. On May 1, 1990, the Supreme Court of New Jersey issued an order, filed with the Clerk of Court on May 8, 1990, suspending Respondent from the practice of law for six months "for his gross negligence is safeguarding client funds, in violation of DR 9-102,..." CEX A, p. 1.

Predicated entirely upon the aforementioned New Jersey Supreme Court order, The Florida Bar first sought a temporary suspension in Florida, which was obtained on July 27, 1990, and then filed a formal complaint with this Court. The sole basis for disciplinary proceedings is the New Jersey disciplinary order.

Final hearing in this cause was held on October 26, 1990, before the referee duly appointed by this Court. Respondent did not attend. The only evidence submitted to the referee at final hearing were the two exhibits attached to the Bar's complaint, i.e., the Decision and Recommendation of the Disciplinary Review Board (CEX A) and the New Jersey Supreme Court Order of Discipline (CEX B) and an affidavit by a New Jersey Bar auditor dated August 23, 1985 (FHEX A).

Based upon the exhibits submitted to him, the referee disregarded the New Jersey Supreme Court's six-month suspension and recommended that Respondent be disbarred.

These proceedings arose as a result of Respondent's firm being randomly audited by the New Jersey Office of Attorney Ethics (OAE). Respondent's firm consisted of himself and his partner, another New Jersey lawyer, Morris J. Stern. Mr. Stern was admitted to the New Jersey Bar in 1937.

On August 23, 1985, Robert J. Prihoda, a CPA and auditor in the OAE, signed an affidavit setting forth the conclusions of the OAE. FHEX A.

Subsequent to the audit, disciplinary proceedings were commenced in New Jersey. After evidentiary hearings before the appropriate grievance committee, and after consideration of the evidence presented at those hearings, the Disciplinary Review Board (DRB) of the Supreme Court of New Jersey heard arguments on the findings and the discipline to be imposed on May 17, 1989. On February 28, 1990, they issued their Decision and Recommendation. The DRB accepted the committee's factual findings but they rejected the grievance committee's recommendation that Respondent and his partner, Mr. Stern, receive public reprimands. CEX A p.5. They recommended, instead, that Respondent and his partner each receive a six month suspension. CEX A p.13. The Supreme Court of New Jersey adopted the DRB's recommendation. CEX B.

A summary of the February 28, 1990 decision and recommendation by the DRB reveals the following facts. The 1984 random audit of Respondent's trust account covered the period from September 1983 to June 1984. Both Respondent and his partner were charged with six counts of misconduct, including failure to maintain required trust accounts, advancement of legal fees, failure to safeguard client funds, and misappropriation of client funds. CEX A p.2.

The DR8 found that:

For approximately twenty years prior to this ethics matter, respondents had retained a certified public accountant to reconcile their bank statements and to maintain cash receipt and disbursement journals for their partnership, as well as to prepare their tax forms. The accountant's normal procedure was to come to respondents' office one day a Upon arrival, he would receive the unopened bank statement from the preceding month and the cash journals, which he would balance. Respondents neither supervised this accountant, nor educated him about the rules concerning attorney trust accounts. Similarly, the accountant never discussed his reconciliations with respondents on a regular basis.

In January, February and April 1984, there were negative balances in the trust account, a fact that the accountant never communicated to respondents. When asked why negative balances were never discussed, the accountant replied he did not view them as significant. (Citations to New Jersey record omitted.) CEX A p.2.

The DRB report indicated that the July 17 and October 10, 1984 audits found shortages in the accounts of three separate clients with identifiable shortages of \$39,000.00, \$8,000.00 and \$45,000.00 respectively. The audit further showed negative

balances on nineteen separate occasions between September 1983 and June 1984 ranging from \$2,766.00 to \$24,053.00. CEX A p.3.

The DRB found that:

Respondents did not receive separate notices from the bank concerning these negative balances because the bank provided automatic overdraft coverage at no charge. CEX A p.3.

During the second audit on October 10, 1984, the OEA's auditor discovered a \$40,000.00 deposit which had been made into Respondent's trust account on the day after the first audit. That \$40,000.00 deposit consisted of Respondent's and Mr. Stern's personal funds. CEX A, p.4.

After trial, the appropriate grievance committee recommended that Respondent and Mr. Stern receive a public reprimand. In so doing, the committee found:

The facts of this case indicate that (1) no client suffered any actual loss; (2) no client ever filed a complaint regarding the Respondents; and (3) that the Respondents (sic) violation of the Court Rules was not the result of any intentional conduct, but rather was a product of poor record keeping, lack of comprehension regarding proper procedures, and a misplaced accounting depository banks reliance on the "overdraft" policy which they perceived would safeguard clients' funds; and (4) a misplaced reliance upon an accountant maintaining the trust account records in an improper fashion. CEX A p.5.

The Disciplinary Review Board, after a <u>de novo</u> review of the full record, found that the conclusions of the grievance committee in finding misconduct were fully supported by clear and convincing evidence. In so doing, the DRB made the following observation:

However, given the inconclusive nature of the evidence, due in part to the absence of appropriate records, the Board cannot find clear and convincing evidence of knowing misappropriation in this instance. CEX Ap.6.

While the Board noted that there were "suspicions" that the four invasions of client trust funds that appeared in the record were deliberate, they specifically stated that "suspicions alone, no matter how grave, simply do not meet the necessary standard of proof". CEX A p.7.

The DRB specifically found that Respondent and his partner "abdicated their responsibilities to their clients" in several respects. First, their use of "overdraft protection" on their trust account was improper. Secondly, that overdraft protection did not constitute "loans from the bank to respondents" protecting client funds. CEX A p.9.

The DRB also found misconduct because Respondent and his partner

further abdicated their responsibilities to their clients by their failure to supervise their accountant's review of their attorney books and records. Apparently, over a period of twenty years, and despite the numerous rule changes governing attorney accounts and recordkeeping, respondents never once insured that their accountant was acting in accordance with the Rules. CEX A p.10.

The Board then found that the two subject New Jersey lawyers were "grossly negligent" in their operation of their trust accounts. CEX A p.11. The DRB also found that it could not

conclude that respondents <u>deliberately</u> designed an accounting system that would enable them to misappropriate client funds.

However, the Board does conclude that, contrary to <u>Gallo</u> and <u>James</u> respondents have no one but themselves to blame for their inexcusable derelictions in failing to attend to the maintenance of their attorney's books and records. (Emphasis that of the Board). CEX A p.12.

The Board then specifically found that neither respondent had been the subject of prior discipline and that no client suffered any financial injury as a result of their misconduct. It then unanimously recommended that each New Jersey lawyer be suspended from the practice of law for six months.

Three months after the DRB's order, the Supreme Court of New Jersey issued its order adopting the DRB's finding and suspending Respondent from the practice of law effective May 22, 1990. The Court's order specifically noted that Respondent was suspended for six months "for his gross negligence in safeguarding client funds,..." There are no other grounds for misconduct stated in the Court's order.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has broad discretion in determining the discipline to be imposed for misconduct by members of The Florida Bar. A referee's recommended discipline, unlike his findings of fact, is subject to broad review. The Florida Bar v McCain, 361 So.2d 700 (Fla. 1978). While this Court is not bound by the discipline imposed by sister states in disciplining lawyers practicing in their jurisdiction, The Florida Bar v Sickmen, 523 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1988) and The Florida Bar v Abrams, 402 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 1981), it stands to reason that disbarring a Florida lawyer for misconduct that occurred in New Jersey, and for which a New Jersey Supreme Court only imposed a six-month suspension, is an improper discipline.

The New Jersey Supreme Court found Respondent guilty of nothing more than "gross negligence in safeguarding client funds,..." CEX B. Although Respondent was charged with misappropriation of trust funds, that allegation fell by the wayside during contested disciplinary proceedings.

Respondent argues that the referee was unduly influenced by the affidavit of the New Jersey Bar's staff auditor, Robert J. Prihoda, that was submitted on August 23, 1985, prior to New Jersey's evidentiary proceedings. FHEX A. Mr. Prihoda's findings and conclusions were obviously drafted for the use of the Office of Attorney Ethics (OAE) for their use in charging the Respondent for misconduct in upcoming disciplinary proceedings.

Mr. Prihoda's conclusions were subsequently rebutted in disciplinary proceedings and did not form the basis for the New Jersey Supreme Court's order of discipline.

Respondent has practiced law in New Jersey for 28 years without mishap. No client was harmed by his misconduct and, although he was guilty of "gross negligence" in his handling of trust funds, he should not be disbarred.

New Jersey a mandatory disbarment has rule for misappropriation of trust funds. In re Wilson, 409 A.2d (N.J. 1979); <u>In re Noonan</u>, 506 A.2d 722 (N.J. 1986). Respondent misappropriated funds, he would have been disbarred in that However, after evidentiary proceedings were state. concluded, neither the New Jersey Disciplinary Review Board nor the New Jersey Supreme Court found misappropriation. Respondent was disciplined solely for gross neglect.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD REJECT THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION THAT RESPONDENT BE DISBARRED BECAUSE IT DISREGARDS THE FACTUAL FINDINGS MADE BY THE NEW JERSEY SUPREME COURT AND IT RESULTS IN A DISCIPLINARY SANCTION IN FLORIDA THAT IS GROSSLY DISPROPORTIONATE TO THE SIXMONTH SUSPENSION RESPONDENT RECEIVED IN NEW JERSEY.

Respondent asks this Court to reject the Referee's recommendation that Respondent be disbarred for misconduct described as "gross negligence in safeguarding client funds,...." (CEX B), misconduct which occurred in New Jersey in 1984. He asks that he be suspended from the practice of law for six months with proof of rehabilitation before reinstatement. The New Jersey Supreme Court imposed a six month suspension for Respondent's misconduct and, although he recognizes that the Florida Supreme Court is not bound by New Jersey's discipline, Respondent urges this Court to impose an equivalent sanction in Florida.

Respondent is only seeking review of the Referee's recommended discipline. While this Court has consistently found that a referee's findings of fact will not be overturned unless there is no evidence in the record supporting those findings, this Court has not given the same presumption of correctness to a referee's recommended discipline. Any question about the Court's discretion in reviewing recommended disciplinary sanctions was laid to rest in The Florida Bar v McCain, 361 So.2d 700 (Fla. 1978) at page 708. There, Justice Sundberg in his concurring opinion wrote that:

In the first instance, it should be observed that the discipline appropriate to ethical misconduct is the sole province responsibility of this Court. While the findings of fact by the Referee disciplinary proceeding "shall enjoy the same presumption of correctness as the judgment of the trier of fact in a civil proceeding," (citations omitted) no similar presumption accompanies hīs recommendation disciplinary measures to be applied.

See also The Florida Bar v Langston, 540 So.2d 118 (Fla. 1989) at page 120 where the Court stated that:

Our scope of review on recommendations for discipline is broader than that afforded to a referee's findings of fact. (Citation omitted)

The Supreme Court of New Jersey, in an opinion filed May 8, 1990, adopted the findings and recommendations of its Disciplinary Review Board (DRB) and suspended Respondent for six months "for his gross negligence in safeguarding client funds,...." CEX B. The only misconduct found by the New Jersey Supreme Court was gross negligence. The DRB specifically rejected a finding of "knowing misappropriation" of trust funds. CEX A p.6.

Rule 3-4.6 of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar states:

A final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court or other authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, state or federal, that an attorney licensed to practice in that jurisdiction is guilty of misconduct justifying disciplinary action shall be considered as conclusive proof of such misconduct in a disciplinary proceeding under this rule.

Respondent is not allowed to contest the New Jersey Supreme Court's finding that he is guilty of gross negligence in safeguarding trust funds. That fact is conclusively proven. However, The Florida Bar is also bound by the New Jersey Supreme Court's findings unless it presents competent evidence to prove other violations. No such evidence was submitted in the case at Bar.

The only evidence submitted by The Florida Bar in this action was the DRB's report and recommendations, CEX A, the New Jersey Supreme Court's order suspending Respondent for six months, CEX B, and the August 23, 1985 affidavit of the New Jersey Office of Attorney Ethics (OAE) staff auditor. FHEX A. The latter document was drafted to assist the OAE in prosecuting Respondent for misconduct. However, after disciplinary trial and appellate review, notwithstanding the auditor's allegations, the DRB and the New Jersey Supreme Court found a lack of clear and convincing evidence showing that Respondent knowingly misappropriated trust funds. CEX A p.6.

The Florida Bar has tried to transform this case from one involving gross negligence in maintaining trust accounts to a knowing misappropriation of trust funds without presenting any competent evidence to support their allegations.

Just as Respondent is prohibited from challenging the New Jersey Supreme Court's finding that he is guilty of misconduct, The Florida Bar should be prohibited from enhancing his misconduct if they are basing their entire case on the New Jersey

finding of misconduct.

The referee was obviously greatly influenced by the only exhibit submitted in evidence at final hearing (other than the two exhibits attached to the complaint and request for admissions.) FHEX A. That exhibit consists of an affidavit dated August 23, 1985, almost five years before the Supreme Court of New Jersey disciplined Respondent, and was obviously prepared to assist the OAE in its prosecution of Respondent. That the referee was unduly influenced by this affidavit was made manifest on page three of his report. There, he said:

The Referee hereby incorporates Florida Bar exhibit "A", Affidavit and Report of New Jersey State Bar Auditor as specific findings of violations of The Florida Bar Rules of Professional Conduct concerning Trust Accounts.

The Audit Report shows a conversion and misappropriation of trust funds belonging to the Respondent's clients. All the overdrafts and all the negative balances represent misappropriation for the personal use of Respondent and his law firm.

The findings of the auditor, and vicariously, the referee, are directly rebutted by one of the exhibits that The Florida Bar attached to its complaint. That exhibit, the Decision and Recommendation of the DRB in New Jersey, and dated February 28, 1990, after evidentiary trial and argument, specifically rejected a finding of "knowing misappropriation in this instance" CEX A, p.6.

At final hearing, The Florida Bar submitted a charging document, without notice that it was going to be presented in

evidence, as "proof" of misconduct that directly contradicts the Bar's exhibits attached to the complaint. Those exhibits, the DRB's report and the New Jersey Supreme Court's order, both contained findings that clearly contradicted Mr. Prihoda's affidavit.

Respondent submits that the "audit report" was nothing more than an affidavit by a biased party, who is an employee of the prosecution wing of the Office of Attorney Ethics, and should not be considered competent evidence of misconduct. Particularly when, as here, his opinions were found lacking after trial.

The New Jersey Supreme Court's order of discipline is conclusive proof of misconduct. It is conclusive proof, however, only of "gross negligence". The Florida Bar cannot have its cake and eat it too. If they are going to stand on a foreign disciplinary order as the sole predicate for their case, then they are bound by the foreign disciplinary findings also.

It cannot be denied that Respondent was hoist on his own petard by his failure to appear at the final hearing. However, the Bar's complaint filed in this cause charged him specifically with "gross negligence in safeguarding client funds". Comp., para. 2. The Bar attached as exhibits, and Respondent admitted that they were proper for evidentiary purposes, the DRB's findings and the New Jersey Supreme Court's order. There is nothing in the record that indicated to the Respondent that The Florida Bar was going to enter into evidence an affidavit by a clearly prejudiced party as the proof for proving misconduct that

was not charged in the complaint and which was not found by the New Jersey Supreme Court.

Where, as here, an affidavit by a prejudiced party, who did not appear at hearing, is directly contradicted by the findings of a court of competent jurisdiction, made after trial, the affidavit should be rejected as competent proof of misconduct.

The Bar based its case on the New Jersey order of discipline. It is limited by the factual findings contained in that order of discipline.

Respondent recognizes that this Court is not bound by the sanction recommended by the foreign jurisdiction. The Florida Bar v Abrams, 402 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 1981); The Florida Bar v Sickmen, 523 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1988). As argued below, Respondent submits that the six month suspension imposed in New Jersey is comparable to sanctions imposed in Florida for similar misconduct.

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