FILE SID J. WHITE FEB 25 1991 CLERK, SUPREME COURT. By Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

Case No. 76,407

TFB File No. 90-01219-02

HARVEY L. WEISS,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF

JAMES N. WATSON, JR. Bar Counsel, The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Fla. 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 Attorney Number 0144587

##

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent was found guilty of misconduct by the Referee in this matter based upon conclusive proof of misconduct as shown by the disciplinary order of suspension from New Jersey and other competent evidence.

The Referee correctly applied the standards of the Supreme Court of Florida in finding Respondent guilty of misappropriation and conversion of trust account funds.

Respondent is limited in his argument only to the appropriateness of the recommended discipline since his failure to appear at the final hearing waived any objections as to the evidence presented to the Referee or alleged bias on behalf of the New Jersey Bar auditor.

Not being restricted to the findings of the New Jersey Supreme Court, the findings of fact by the Referee are permissible and correct. In view of the lack of responsibility showed by Respondent in dealing with his trust accounts and continued denial that there was any misuse or invasion of his trust account the recommendation of disbarment is the appropriate decision.

-6-

#### ARGUMENT

THE RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE OF DISBARMENT IS APPROPRIATE IN LIGHT OF THE FINDINGS MADE BY THE REFEREE

Respondent has asked that the discipline of disbarment recommended by the Referee in this matter be rejected and that a lesser discipline be ordered. Respondent suggests that the appropriate discipline should be a six month suspension, the same discipline that was rendered against Respondent in his resident state of New Jersey.

The only question to be addressed upon Respondent's request for review is the appropriateness of the recommended discipline made by the Referee in the instant case. It is abundantly clear that this is the central question put forth by the Respondent in his brief. Respondent makes this single argument on the first page of his argument when he states that "Respondent is only seeking review of the Referee's discipline." Initial Brief of Respondent, p. 10.

Although Respondent correctly states the limited grounds for review in this matter, he proceeds to attempt to argue the factual merits of his position and the findings of fact made by the Referee.

Respondent argues that the Referee's findings of violations of any misconduct other that the violation of

-7-

gross negligence made by the New Jersey Supreme Court is improper. Respondent argues that the New Jersey order is only conclusive proof of "gross negligence" and can only be the basis for a similar finding by this court.

Rule 3-4.6, Rules of Discipline, provides that a final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court of another jurisdiction that an attorney licensed to practice in that jurisdiction is guilty of misconduct justifying disciplinary action shall be considered as conclusive proof of such misconduct.

While Respondent would argue that under this rule, the only finding the Referee in the instant case could make is the same as that of the New Jersey Supreme Court, this is an erroneous position taken by the Respondent for several reasons.

The key point against Respondent's argument is that the provisions of Rule 3-4.6 provide that a final adjudication is conclusive proof of the misconduct not the specific violation. Any other interpretation of this rule would allow only a finding that a Respondent in such situation had been found guilty of only a specific violation and not the facts or conduct that supported the violation. This would place the entire burden or proving such misconduct upon The Florida Bar by establishing the factual basis of the foreign discipline. Our rules provide such is the case only when a Respondent can show

-8-

that the foreign jurisdictions proceedings were unfair. Such an argument is not made in this matter.

Citing the case of <u>The Florida Bar</u> v <u>Abrams</u>, 402 So. 2d 1150 (Fla. 1981), Respondent argues that this court is not bound by the discipline imposed by the foreign jurisdiction. More importantly, a closer reading of <u>Abrams</u> contradicts the main thrust of Respondent's argument against the Referee's report.

While Respondent argues that the Referee is limited by the factual findings made by the New Jersey Supreme Court and cannot make findings of guilt beyond those in the New Jersey order, this is not the case. In <u>Abrams</u>, this court has held that if there is sufficient evidence to justify other findings of violations, this court is not limited by the findings of a foreign jurisdiction and may certainly go beyond them in Florida proceedings. This court also held that there is no prohibition of finding that the same act of misconduct violates the provisions of more than one disciplinary rule. <u>Abrams</u>, p. 1153.

Finally, in <u>Abrams</u>, this court held that it is not bound by the discipline of the foreign court and Respondent's improprieties must be analyzed and dealt with according to the standards of this state and not the foreign jurisdiction.

Since there is no argument as to the facts found by the Referee herein, the appropriate discipline to be

-9-

entered in this matter must be according to Florida standards. Any attempt by Respondent to argue appropriate discipline in Florida based upon the reasoning and standards of the New Jersey Supreme Court is misplaced and contrary to the holdings of this court.

Respondent has also argued that The Florida Bar is limited to only the finding of misconduct from New Jersey and is prohibited from enhancing this misconduct without presenting competent evidence beyond the order of discipline.

At the final hearing, The Bar introduced the Decision and Recommendation of the Disciplinary Review Board of New Jersey (CEX A) and the New Jersey Supreme Court Order of Discipline (CEX B) along with an affidavit from the New Jersey Bar auditor who conducted the random audit of Respondent's trust account.

Respondent has set forth several arguments against the use of the auditor's report in an effort to argue his case before this Court rather than before the Referee. As earlier noted and admitted in his brief, Respondent chose not to attend the final hearing.

Any objection made by the Respondent regarding the use of the auditor's report and his argument against the Referee's having considered this report should be stricken and not be considered in the ultimate decision of this matter.

-10-

Respondent failed to attend the final hearing in this matter where the opportunity to make these objections was available. Any objection to the introduction to such evidence was waived by his non-appearance. His failure to appear and timely raise any objection at trial precludes Respondent from now arguing his objections as a basis of overturning the Referee's recommendation of disbarment.

It may be regarded as a general rule of appellate review that questions not timely raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal. 3 <u>Fla.Jur.</u> 2d. Appellate Review §392. (1978) The rule operates to prevent a party from complaining on appeal of errors that the trial court was given no opportunity to correct or obviate. <u>Paul v Kanter</u>, 155 So. 2d 402 (3rd DCA, 1963).

Respondent's argument of surprise regarding the introduction of the auditor's affidavit is clearly an untimely attempt to help correct his decision not to attend the final hearing. Respondent had ample opportunity to request by appropriate discovery procedures what matters were to be presented to the Referee. Any intimation that The Florida Bar was under any duty or obligation to reveal its trial strategy absent formal discovery is misguided.

Any claim by Respondent at this juncture that the auditor was a biased witness must be discounted because

-11-

Respondent must be seen as having waived such opportunity by his failure to attend the final hearing. The mere fact that the auditor was employed by the New Jersey State Bar without some direct evidence of bias cannot support such a claim as made by Respondent.

Although the auditor did not appear at the final hearing this matter in itself will not operate to disallow such evidence as his report. This court has held that in Bar disciplinary cases, hearsay evidence is admissible and there is no right to confront witnesses face to face. <u>The Florida Bar</u> v <u>Vannier</u>, 498 So. 2d 896 (Fla. 1986).

A review of the auditor's affidavit shows that it merely gives a more detailed discussion of the reasons for the negative balances in Respondent's trust account. These are the same negative balances to which the Respondent admitted to in his answers to The Florida Bar's Request for Admissions.

Since it is the rule in Florida that the factual basis of Respondent's misconduct must be analyzed and dealt with according to the standards of Florida, whatever reasoning and standards used by the New Jersey authorities are not applicable and should not be considered.

As stated by both parties in this matter, the only question that is to be addressed by this court is the appropriateness of the Referee's recommended discipline.

-12-

This court should only consider whether or not the facts of Respondent's misconduct should support his being disbarred under our current standards.

The Referee made the following finding in his report:

The audit report shows a conversion and misappropriation of trust funds belonging to the Respondent's clients. All the overdrafts and all the negative balances represent misappropriation for the personal use of Respondent and his law firm. (Page 3, Referee's Report).

Based on his findings of misappropriation of trust funds, the Referee found Respondent guilty of violating the provisions of Rule 3-4.3 (the commission by a lawyer of any act which is unlawful or contrary to honesty and justice), of the Rules of Discipline of The Florida Bar, and Rules 4-1.15(a) (a lawyer shall hold in trust, separate from the lawyer's own property, funds and property of clients or third persons that are in a lawyer's possession in connection with a representation. All funds, including advances for costs and expenses, shall be kept in a separate account maintained in the state where the lawyer's office is situated or elsewhere with the consent of the client or third person, provided that funds may be separately held and maintained other than in a bank account if the client specifically instructs, in writing, that such be done. Other property shall be identified as such and appropriately safequarded. Complete records of such account funds and

-13-

other property shall be kept by the lawyer and shall be preserved for a period of six (6) years after termination of the representation), 4-1.15(b) (upon receiving funds or other property in which a client or third person has an interest, a lawyer shall promptly notify the client or third person. Except as stated in this rule or otherwise permitted by law or by agreement with the client, a lawyer shall promptly deliver to the client or third person any funds or other property that the client or third person is entitled to receive and, upon request by the client or third person, shall promptly render a full accounting regarding such property), 4-1.15(c) (when in the course of representation a lawyer is in possession of property in which both the lawyer and another person claim interests, the property shall be treated by the lawyer as trust property, but the portion belonging to the lawyer or law firm shall be withdrawn within a reasonable time after it becomes due unless the right of the lawyer or law firm to receive it is disputed, in which event the portion in dispute shall be kept separate by the lawyer until the dispute is resolved), and 4-8.4(c) (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation), of the Rules of Professional Conduct of The Florida Bar.

This Court's position on the misappropriation of trust funds by an attorney is well documented. In The

-14-

<u>Florida Bar</u> v <u>Breed</u>, 378 So. 2d 783 (Fla. 1979) this court wrote in its opinion that misuse of clients' funds is one of the most serious offenses a lawyer can commit. While echoing <u>Breed's</u> characterization of the misuse of clients' funds this court in <u>The Florida Bar</u> v <u>Newman</u>, 513 So. 2d 656, 658 (Fla. 1987) stated that the Court has not hesitated to find disbarment appropriate where attorneys have demonstrated a pattern of misuse of client funds, e.g., <u>The Florida Bar</u> v <u>Knowles</u>, 500 So. 2d 140 (Fla. 1986); <u>The Florida Bar</u> v <u>Harris</u>, 400 So. 2d 1220 (Fla. 1981).

On numerous occasions this court has held that the misappropriation and misuse of trust funds warrants disbarment. In the case of The Florida Bar v Stillman, 401 So. 2d 1306 (Fla. 1981) this court held that the appropriation of a client's money to an attorney's own use warrants disbarment. In The Florida Bar v Baker, 419 So. 2d 1054 (Fla. 1982) the attorney was disbarred from the practice of law for misconduct amounting to theft where he failed to properly identify and preserve his client's funds. In The Florida Bar v Tarrant, 464 So. 2d 1199 (Fla. 1985) this court held that an attorney would be disbarred where on two occasions he had removed funds from a client's trust account and converted these funds to his own use. Where an attorney had made improper transfers from a client's trust account resulting in shortages, such misconduct was

-15-

found to warrant disbarment. <u>The Florida Bar</u> v Mattingly, 342 So. 2d 508 (Fla. 1977).

While each side to a Bar discipline matter can generally find case authority to support what it feels should be the appropriate discipline, each case must stand on its own merits.

The facts as found by the Referee in this case support a finding of misappropriation. This court has held that personal use of funds entrusted to an attorney, beneficial ownership of which lies in another, is misappropriation, even when committed with the intent to repay. <u>The Florida Bar</u> v <u>Greenfield</u>, 517 So. 2d 16, 17 (Fla. 1987). Based on this fact, Respondent was found guilty of the charged violations.

Respondent has argued that several mitigating factors in his case obviates the necessity of disbarment. Respondent continues to claim no responsibility for his wrongful invasion into his trust account other than blame his bookkeeper. His claim of such mitigation is misplaced. Not only did Respondent fail to instruct his bookkeeper as to the requirements of a lawyer's trust account, he failed to personally supervise and examine his periodic reconciliations. Such a review would have immediately shown Respondent the existence of continued shortages.

At the final hearing in New Jersey, Respondent demonstrated his complete lack of understanding of his

-16-

responsibility as an attorney when he continued to insist that the shortages did not represent a misuse of trust funds, but merely loans to the bank that was covering these shortages with an overdraft protection agreement. Even the deposit of \$40,000 of personal funds from Respondent and his law partner to cover the shortages of client Quartier's account was characterized as a loan repayment. Even in Respondent's brief, this misuse of trust funds is labeled merely "reprehensible bookkeeping." This continued attitude toward such misconduct presents a grave question as to Respondent's fitness to practice law and remain in a position of trust.

The recommendation of disbarment by the Referee is the appropriate discipline and clearly meets the purposes of disciplinary judgments as set forth in <u>The Florida</u> <u>Bar v Pahules</u>, 233 So. 2d 130, 132 (Fla. 1970). Disbarment in this instance would protect society from Respondent's conduct and not deprive it of a qualified attorney. Respondent's lack of understanding of his duties begs his qualifications. The recommended discipline is also fair in view of the violations and while Respondent may view such as harsh, it does allow for reformation and readmittance. Finally, disbarment for such conduct will be a deterrence to other members of The Bar not to be tempted to misuse their trust funds.

-17-

# CONCLUSION

Based upon the finding of misappropriation of trust funds by Respondent, this court should affirm the Referee's recommended discipline of disbarment.